
MINUTES OF THE KENT COUNTY LEVY COURT 
COMBINED MEETING 

KENT COUNTY ADMINISTRATIVE COMPLEX 
555 BAY ROAD, DOVER, DE 

LEVY COURT CHAMBER, ROOM 203 
TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 28, 2017 

Call to Order 

The Combined Business meeting of the Kent County Levy Court was called to 
order at 7:00p.m. by President Banta. 

Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance 

The Invocation was led by Mr. Howell and the Pledge of Allegiance was led by 
Mr. Hosfelt. 

Moment of Silence for our Troops 

A moment of silence was observed for our Troops and led by Mr. Sweeney. 

Roll call and Determination of Quorum 

Allan F. Angel 
Eric L. Buckson 
James E. Hosfelt, Jr. 
Glen M. Hpwell 
Terry L. Pepper 
George W. Sweeney, Sr. 
P. Brooks Banta 

Commissioner 
Commissioner 
Commissioner 
Commissioner 
Vice President 
Commissioner 
President 

There are seven (7) Commissioners present at Roll Call. 

Adoption of Agenda 
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Motion was made by Mr. Sweeney; seconded by Mr. Howell; carried by roll call 
vote seven (7) yeas to adopt the Agenda. 

Consent Agenda - None 

PRESENTATIONS 

Employee of the Month - December 2017 

Lorrie Tanaka read the following into the record: 

Kent County Department Heads have selected Ana Iturriaga from the Department 
ofPublic Works as the December 2017 Employee ofthe Month. 

Ana started with Kent County in May 2005 and serves as a Custodian in the 
Facilities Management Division. Her primary duties include cleaning restrooms 

and offices in the Kent County Administrative Complex as well as at the Kent 
County Recreation Center. 
Ana is a dedicated employee who earns high praise from supervisors for her 
personal commitment to maintain a clean and sanitary environment for visitors 
and her fellow employees. She always has a kind word and her pleasant demeanor 

makes her easily approachable. Ana is a dependable employee who can be 
counted on to complete all assigned tasks in a timely manner and represent Kent 
County in the most positive way. 
According to Acting Public Works Director Diana Golt, "The work our 
custodians do is often underappreciated, but it is extremely important in 
maintaining a healthy environment for everyone working in or using our facilities. 
Ana diligently performs her duties with a very pleasant attitude that results in 
numerous positive comments from the public and visitors. She is a joy to be 
around and her devotion to the County is obvious by the quality of work she 
performs." 
Congratulations Ana on a job well done! Ana resides in Milford just across the 
County line. 

Ms. Tanaka concluded by reading the Employee of the Month Tribute into the 
record. The Commissioners and County Administrator then met Ana at the front 
for presentation of the award, congratulations and photographs. 

Mr. Banta: Ana, you do an outstanding job and you and I have, over the years 
had some very personal conversations. Not only the County Building but the 
outsiders that come in compliment the condition of this building. Some credit of 
course goes to Liz but not all, right, Liz? You're a team and you work well 
together and we're very proud of the job you do. It is important. The 
Commissioners get calls from people outside the building and they say that's the 
cleanest bathroom I've ever used in the State of Delaware. I told you that last 
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week when we were talking. You do a great job; you and the team do a great job. 
Can't say enough for what you do. 

Commissioner Pepper: It says you live just across the line in Milford. Just across 
the line in which direction, North or South of? Ahhh! I was looking for a vote! 
Anyhow, the building and all our facilities in Kent County we expect a grade 
above everybody else. The building and all these properties do not belong to us, 
or you or any of the staff. They belong to the people, our constituents of Kent 
County. When they come in here, when they see a clean, professionally kept 
building they have a better attitude about the County. Your hard work, you help 
give us a good name. Thank you very much; keep up the hard work. We 
certainly do appreciate you. 

Mr. Buckson: Well, that was a lot Ana. I'll just agree with what he said. There 
you go. Well deserved. Your radiant smile seems to light up the room and I 
appreciate it. When you come in this place you can tell that it's well kept. The 
thing that I'm impressed with, when we're here after hours; and maybe not when 
the public's actually here, but the folks are hard at it, working with pride. So I 
appreciate your effort. Liz, all those people it's a great job; really, really nice job. 
Thank you. 

Mr. Angel: Ana, great job. You're always very pleasant and with a smile when 
you greet people and it makes us look good when you do that so, with the 
building going on 13 years? 14 years now? It still looks good. Keep up the great 
work. 

Mr. Sweeney: Like I said, you've now become the gang of 12. A nice check for 
$500.00 would be really nice at this time of year so congratulations. It's well 
deserved to be here and good luck. 

Mr. Howell: I agree. In addition to the good work you do, you're cheerful, 
you're friendly; that helps a lot. We appreciate everything you do. Hope you stay 
here another 50 years or so. 

Mr. Hosfelt: Ana, thank you very much and congratulations for being named 
Employee of the Month. We appreciate everything you and the rest of the team 
do. 

Mr. Petit de Mange: Ana, congratulations. Like the tribute said, you are a joy to 
have here at the County. I get to see you almost every day; I run into you almost 
daily. We always have a word or two, we talk. I can tell you Ana loves her 
family because she tells me about all you guys a lot. She talks about you a lot and 
Joe I feel like I know you well because Ana talks about you a lot as well and it's 
all good, 90% anyway. Ana you take care of this place along with your 
colleagues like you own it and it shows. All the comments and the nice praise 
you got tonight is because of that effort, so congratulations. Thank you. 
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Ana: I'd like to thank everyone and it's wonderful. I'll keep representing Levy 
Court and my department as best as I can. As long as my body will keep going, 
I'll keep going. Thank you all. 

Mr. Banta concluded the presentation by presenting Ana with a County Pin, 
noting that she could wear it with distinction and was welcome to attend all Levy 
Court meetings although she would not have a vote. 

INTRODUCTIONS 

Jeremy Sheppard: Good evening, Commissioners, County Administrator. It is 
my distinct pleasure to introduce our newest employee here at Parks and 
Recreation, Mr. Jonathan Stewart standing beside me. We hired him on 
November 13 of this month in the position of Programs Supervisor II. We hired 
him at II because he has significant experience in education. He has a Bachelors 
in Health Science from Southern Adventist University and a Master degree in 
Sports Administration from Delaware State University. He also has recently 
worked for Delaware State University for seven years, most recently as the 
Assistant Director of Aquatics and Training. He brings with him a lot of 
experience in that area, very professional, very knowledgeable. He's going to be 
a very big asset to our department for many years to come. No further ado 
Mr. Jonathan Stewart. 

Jonathan Stewart: Thank you very much for the warm welcome. It's been my 
pleasure to work alongside with folks over at the Parks and Recreation for the past 
seven years and I could not be more pleased to join the team on a full-time basis 
and continue to serve the County residents with pride. 

Mr. Banta: Jon, welcome aboard. Mr. Sweeney may want to make a comment 
under Community Services. 

Mr. Sweeney: Mr. Stewart you have some very big shoes to fill, but from your 
credentials, I think you'll do an excellent job. Welcome aboard. And that 
gymnasium is one of our gems so treat her well and she'll treat you well. I hope 
you're here for 50 years. 

Mr. Stewart: Thank you very much. I look forward to it. 

Mr. Banta: Thank you very much. Have a great evening. Appreciate your time. 
Thank you. 

PUBLIC HEARINGS 

Sarah Keifer stated these Public Hearings are conducted for the purpose of 
giving the citizens of Kent County the opportunity to present testimony on the 
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application and ordinances that are before the Levy Court. Everyone will have an 
opportunity to speak. All statements will be made from the podium at the front of 
the room. For the record, please give your name and address. Copies of any 
written statements or exhibits used during the hearing should be provided to the 
Clerk of the Peace for identification and inclusion in the record for that item. 

For each application before the Levy Court, the President will introduce the 
application; 

The Levy Court will then receive testimony from all of those in favor; 

Testimony will then be received from those who may be opposed. 

After everyone has had an opportunity to speak, the hearing on the application 
will be closed and the Levy Court will then take what action it deems appropriate. 
Levy Court's decision will be based upon public hearing testimony received at 
this meeting as well as a recommendation report submitted to the Levy Court by 
The Regional Planning Commission. I would ask that that recommendation be 
included by reference in the permanent record of the meeting established by the 
Clerk of the Peace. 

The Public Hearing Notice ofthis meeting was published in the November 3, 
2017 edition ofthe Delaware State News. 

PETITION FOR CONDITIONAL LAND USE APPROVAL 

Mr. Sweeney: 
1. Application #: C-17 -03; Applicant & Owner: Kemi F. Sanni; Zoning 

District I Proposed Use: AC (Agricultural Conservation I Auto 
Wholesale Office; Area & Location I ID#: 0.26+ acre on the southwest 
side ofN Marshview Terrace, approx. 250' west of Trumpeters Swan 
Way, being Lot 107 in the Point Landing subdivision, north of Magnolia I 
NM-00-096.03-02-49.00-000) 

Ms. Keifer: The first application before the Levy Court is C-17-03. It's a 
Conditional Use/Home Occupation. The specific use is an Auto Wholesale 
Office. The site is zoned AC Agricultural Residential; it is located inside the 
Growth Zone Overlay District. It is Lot 107 in the Point Landing subdivision 
north of Magnolia. The Regional Planning Commission took testimony at their 
November 2nd hearing and at their November 9th business meeting voted 
unanimously to recommend conditional approval. I'm happy to answer any 
questions the Levy Court might have. 

Mr. Sweeney: Ms. Keifer, the reason for the application from what I understand 
is not necessarily forced because of Kent County Levy Court but because ofher 
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requirements to have a specific office space through the Department of Motor 
Vehicles, correct? 

Ms. Keifer: That is correct. 

Mr. Sweeney: But, I mean a home office is still a home office which we still have 
to approve through Levy Court which forces them to go through this process. 

Ms. Keifer: A home office fits within a home occupation. It went through the 
administrative process but an objection was received; that's why it's going 
through the Public Hearing process, but it is just an office. 

Mr. Sweeney: The second question, regardless of the outcome of our vote tonight 
if the homeowners association still feels that they want to enforce any deed 
restrictions that's not Levy Court's purview? 

Ms. Keifer: That's correct. 

Mr. Sweeney: Thank you. 

Mr. Buckson: Clarify just a couple of things. I've been very consistent on the 
enforcement of the deed restrictions regardless of the opinion of Levy Court, 
however this one is somewhat unique. If I'm interpreting this correctly it 
indicates that a home occupation is permitted so long as there is zero impact to the 
essentially exterior. Is that a correct assessment? 

Ms. Keifer: That's correct. 

Mr. Buckson: So as long as the individual doesn' t violate the agreement which is 
absolutely no onsite parking of any vehicles at any time it fits within the deed 
restriction, according to your interpretation? 

Ms. Keifer: It appears to, yes. 

Mr. Buckson: And if they were to violate that then we would have the 
enforcement capability to revoke the approval? 

Ms. Keifer: Not in accordance with the deed restrictions but in accordance with 
Levy Court's own zoning ordinance, yes; if it turned into onsite sales of 
automobiles that's a very clear violation of the home occupation standards. 

Mr. Buckson: Even parking? 

Ms. Keifer: Yeah, you're not meant to be storing the vehicles you're selling. It's 
not meant to be a car lot. It's meant only to be an office. 
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Public Hearing is Open on Application C-17-03 

IN FAVOR 

Kemi Sanni, North Marshview Terrace, Magnolia, DE: Like I stated when I was 
here last time, November 7th, that the primary purpose of the request is to comply 
with the DMV requirement. The property is not going to be served as a parking 
lot. I just need the space in my office to utilize my computer in my office to do 
the business. There's nothing coming to my property. As indicated on the DMV 
application here, there is no public sales allowed on the type of license that is 
being pursued. I just want to clarify that. I think that what my neighbors 
probably thought was that I'm going to be bringing cars into the neighborhood 
which is absolutely not true. There's no car coming to the neighborhood. It's like 
somebody go to bid on *unintelligible* dot com and *unintelligible* says you 
have to be a member before you can bid, that is all I need the approval for me to 
obtain the license. 

Mr. Pepper: (Inaudible) selling, using the office as a sales office, where will you 
keep the vehicles? I think that's a fair question based on what we need to know. 

Ms. Sanni: Sir, I do appreciate your question. This is actually not ... I am not 
selling the cars. I just want to bid for cars for myself and the website that I went 
to *unintelligible* they wanted me to have a dealer's license before I could come 
bid over there because I need some for myself and my family members. That was 
when I went to DMV and they said okay before we can issue that type of license 
to you, you have to come through here and if they say it's okay for you to use 
your office to bid than we can give it to you. So, I am a professional. I have my 
own profession. This is just something to grant me an access to the company 
website. It's not that I want to be a professional car dealer. No, it's 
nothing like that. It's just to grant me permission to bid on the people's website 
and they said I had to go through DMV for me to be able to do that. So when I 
went to DMV, DMV said okay, if you have to use your office, you have to come 
through here and let them grant you permission to use your office. 

Mr. Pepper: Excuse me, I'm not understanding. 

Ms. Sanni: I'm not selling cars to the public, sir. 

Mr. Pepper: Okay, so what's the purpose of the dealer's license then? 

Ms. Sanni: It's for me to bid on for instance like, AI Deluxe Auction. It's for me 
to have access to their website; because without that they won't let me bid over 
there. I need to bid over there because I need some cars for my family and my 
friends. It's not that I'm selling, I'm not selling. That's what I keep telling them, 
that you guys are messing this up. I have my job but I just want to be able to 
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access the people's website and this is the condition that they give me. So that is 
why I went through that route. 

Mr. Pepper: So you're not going to be buying and selling cars other than for your 
own personal use? 

Ms. Sanni: I'm just going to go over there and bid. Like if my daughter or my 
husband want a car, I want to be able to access their website and bid for what I 
want. I'm not selling no cars to the public, so that' s what I don't understand when 
everybody kept saying they don't want to see a car on my property. I don't need a 
car on my property. Ifl want to sell a car I can go get a car lot and sell a car. It's 
not for that purpose. I just need an access to be able to bid on the company's 
website and the company said, you know, in order for us to allow you to come do 
that you have to go get a dealer's license. It's a conditional license, it's not like 
the license that they give to Winner's or Toyota's, it's not that type oflicense; it's 
conditional. That was why when I went over there yesterday to get the paper 
from them. 

Mr. Pepper: Now a dealer's license, I believe I'm correct on this, you have to buy 
and sell so many cars a year in order to maintain that? 

Ms. Sanni: The max they said over here is five. 

Mr. Pepper: Five? 

Ms. Sanni: I have the paper here, yeah. Because they have different types of 
dealer's license; the one that I'm pursuing is conditional. It's right here. I just 
got it from them yesterday. 

Mr. Pepper: Okay, so let me just recap here. You're just going to buy cars for 
your own personal use; the only reason you want the license is so you can get on 
the website for your family to purchase for their own private use? 

Ms. Sanni: That is correct. 

Mr. Pepper: You won't be buying any additional cars ... Will you run dealer tags 
on these cars or regular tags? 

Ms. Sanni: Well, according to what they said here, they said they can only give 
me two and I can't sell more than five in a year. I'm not selling like I told the 
lady that is why she handed this over to me and she *unintelligible* me back 
here. It's not like Ford cars, Toyota, no it' s nothing like that. It's just to give me 
an access to be on their website, that's it. 
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Mr. Pepper: Okay, it sounds like you' re going a big round-about way to be able 
to buy just a few cars. Will you also to . . . I would imagine DMV would require 
you to be insured to be a dealer also, correct? 

Ms. Sanni: Technically, I don't think so. 

Mr. Pepper: You better check on that. 

Ms. Sanni: I know, I went over there yesterday and the lady said this is what I 
need but I still need to get the Levy County permission to be able to use my office 
so that is why they sent me over here. 

Mr. Pepper: Okay, so ... But I do want you to understand that you're not to do 
any detailing of any cars there, have any extra cars there, other than your personal 
use and there won't be any working on the cars in the driveway or inside the 
garage or anything like that. 

Ms. Sanni: No. Nothing. 

Mr. Pepper: Okay. Thank you. 

Ms. Sanni: Thank you sir. 

IN OPPOSITION 

Kevin Birney, 34 Turn Court, Magnolia, DE: I'm on the homeowner' s 
association board and the deed restriction does not preclude a home office. What 
it does preclude is the vehicles or, being used as a business where the ... the 
intrusion of the business into the neighborhood, whether it's bringing people in to 
sign documents, parking cars in the driveway or on the street. The street itself is 
not very wide so we were concerned that if there are cars parked on the street it's 
very difficult to navigate the road. I did email in some pictures and our deed 
restrictions to the meeting in earlier November which I wasn' t able to attend. But 
the restriction was not meant to preclude use of the space unit as a home office in 
support of an off premise business that does not cause intrusion on the property 
and does not involve employees other than unit owner or business traffic at the 
site. Those are the exact words from our deed restrictions and that's what our 
concern is at this point. 

Mr. Banta: I don't understand your concern. 

Mr. Birney: Our concern is that it would bring traffic into the neighborhood 
whether it would be to sign documents ... 
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Mr. Banta: Either I don't understand or, and no disrespect, I understand your 
concern. I think that has been ... That's not validated because this is a home 
office, period. No cars will be entering or exiting the property so ... 

Mr. Birney: And I don't have an objection to that. We weren't aware of that's 
what the site was for before that. And we want to make sure that that's the way 
it's going to stay, that that's our concern and that's why we're against it. 

Mr. Banta: Well, we certainly respect your position, absolutely. If you don't 
understand, this is the way to find out. My understanding clearly, home 
occupation, the way this is designed, for wholesale cars, there will be no people or 
cars coming off or on the property the way she's going to handle that 
business. And that's the way the ordinance is written. 

Mr. Birney: Right; and our deed restrictions are fine with that. 

*INAUDIBLE* 

Mr. Birney: Exactly. 

Mr. Sweeney: And just to be clear, my point beforehand, Ms. Keifer, if Ms. 
Sanni violates the deed restrictions it would be incumbent upon the HOA board to 
take Ms. Sanni to court to get her to comply with your deed restrictions. I want to 
make sure you guys understand that we can't, we don't intervene in your deed 
restrictions. 

Mr. Birney: What's the purpose of the deed restrictions if the Court of the County 
isn't going to help us enforce them? 

Mr. Sweeney: You know I've been on board with that for the last 12 years trying 
to figure out how Kent County can get involved with deed restrictions, to the 
point that when someone does a permit they have to sign off and say, yes I'm 
following the deed restrictions and that's been added to our application. But the 
County's never been in a position to take the applicant to court for violation of 
deed restrictions and I just want to make sure you're aware ofthat. 

Mr. Birney: I'm aware of it now but, I... 

Mr. Sweeney: I don't like it either. 

Mr. Buckson: I'd like Ms. Keifer to weigh in in a second but the only reason I am 
in support of this application is because I do not believe we have to rely on the 
HOA to enforce this. I do believe that based on a conversation I had about 3 
minutes ago that the County does have the ability to enforce what we are 
considering a parking of cars and a selling of autos and the other things that 
Commissioner Pepper has reviewed or indicated can't be done. 
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Ms. Keifer: If the site were to be turned into effectively a car sales lot, that's a 
violation of the County's own regulations so it would be in violation of the zoning 
ordinance. We don't have to rely on the deed restrictions. Homeowners can take 
action on their own; that's a contract among homeowners not with the County. 
But we would be able to take action under our own zoning ordinance. 

Mr. Buckson: If three cars were parked there with zero tags for a week, what 
would we be able to do? 

Ms. Keifer: If we see trends of cars being stored on the lot and they're associated 
with that business, we would provide a violation notice; give time for compliance. 
If we couldn't achieve compliance within the allotted time for zoning, it's 30 
days, we would bring it back to the Levy Court and you would consider a 
revocation of the permit. 

Mr. Buckson: I'll end with this because I'm in favor as I understand what was 
just explained. This is very unique as Commissioner Pepper has presented. I 
know that it's confusing to the applicant. This is not a traditional way. This is the 
first one we've ever dealt with where somebody has come in for the sole purpose 
of gaining access to a private auction, which is what it is. I've visited private 
auctions before. I befriend a dealer, gain access to it. It's a lot easier to do. But 
to say that I'm going to obtain a dealer's license so that I can go to a restricted 
website, it's a select website, for the purpose of buying family vehicles; I might 
buy three vehicles in four years, if I'm lucky. Not even that. So to make five 
your quota, I don't know. So anyway, I'm not questioning the applicant. As long 
as we adhere to the rules and we can enforce the rules I think the deed restriction 
says what it says and so I'm willing to vote in favor of it. 

Mr. Pepper: For Staff, the conditional use, ifthe property's sold, does the 
conditional use go with the property or does it go away? 

Ms. Keifer: Conditional uses traditional stay with the property but I would yield 
to Mr. (William) Pepper if he has a different opinion. 

Mr. W. Pepper: No, I agree with that; it would stay with the property but they are 
narrowly circumscribed. 

Mr. Pepper: Thank you. 

Mr. Angel: I find this unique the way she's trying to cut out the middle man to 
buy a vehicle for her family at a best cost she can afford. To me that's, it's a hard 
way of the way she's doing it but I've got to commend her on her unique outside
the-box thinking. 

Public Hearing is Closed On Application C-17-03 
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Mr. Sweeney: I Move to approve Application C-17-03, Zoning District/Proposed 

Use based on the conditional approval from the Regional Planning Committee, 

the approval from Staff and based on the commitment from the applicant to 

follow the rules set aside the homeowners association; seconded by Mr. Angel. 

Roll Call: 

Mr. Angel: Yes, reasons stated by Commissioner Sweeney and Commissioner 
Buckson. 

Mr. Buckson: Yes, for reasons stated in my comments and also by Commissioner 
Sweeney and Angel. 

Mr. Hosfelt: Yes, based on the reasons stated and the Staffs recommendation. 

Mr. Howell: Yes, for reasons stated. 

Mr. Pepper: No, I think this is sort of a convoluted way of getting around the 

procedures that have been set in place by the auto wholesaler's and I don't like 

that the conditional use continues on with the property in case of sale to a new 

owner, so no. 

Mr. Sweeney: Yes, per my motion. 

Mr. Banta: Based on the recommendation ofthe Regional Planning Commission, 

Staff, the applicant, Mr. Sweeney and Mr. Buckson, I vote yes. 

Roll Call reveals six (6) yeas; one (1) nay. Application C-17-03 has been 
approved. 

PETITIONS FOR CONDITIONAL USE REQUIRING SITE 
PLAN APPROVAL 

Mr. Hosfelt: 
1. Application #IN arne: CS-17 -10 I Redeemed Christian Church of God 

Father's House Assembly; Applicant I Owner: Vincent Ikwuagwu I 
Sherie S. Vaughn; Zoning District I Proposed Use: RS1 (Single Family 
Residential) I Church; Area & Location I ID#: 2.0± acres on northeast 
comer ofS State St. (US Rt. 113A) and Highview Ave. (Co. Rd. 354), 

south ofDover I ED-00-086.09-01-76.00-000 

Ms. Keifer: Application CS-17 -10 is a conditional use site plan for a church 

located on two acres at the northeast comer of High view A venue and South State 

Street, just south of Dover. The site is zoned RS 1 Single Family Residential. The 
Planning Commission took testimony on this application at their November 2nd 

hearing and at their November 9th business meeting voted unanimously to 
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recommend conditional approval. Two specific conditions you'll see in the 
recommendation report. One, that signage be limited to one monument sign, 32 
square feet in area and to relocate a portion of the fence so that plantings along the 
walkway can be continuous. At the Planning Commission the applicant had 
agreed to all of the conditions recommended. Again, this comes with the 
unanimous recommendation for approval. I'm happy to answer any questions you 
might have. 

Mr. Hosfelt: Thank you. Ms. Keifer, I have three questions. If I read correctly 
this is not going to require any change to the zoning for that area, correct? 

Ms. Keifer: That is correct. 

Mr. Hosfelt: And recently, within the last week or maybe two weeks there's been 
some improvements to the roadway at the Highview A venue. Is that because of 
this project? 

Ms. Keifer: I'm not aware ofthat, no. 

Mr. Hosfelt: I don't know it was simply a repaving but I know there was some 
lane markings actually at the end where Highview meets South State Street 
extended, where it actually looks like they have a right turn lane and a left turn 
lane now, so I don't know ifthat's related to this project or not. I just wondered if 
you ... 

Ms. Keifer: I am not aware ofthat. The applicant's engineer might be able to 
speak to that. 

Mr. Hosfelt: And the last question I had, I'm somewhat confused based on the 
testimony at the Planning Commission will there be a fence required between the 
church and the property at 31, or we're going to do it with shrubberies and trees 
and landscaping? 

Ms. Keifer: A buffer was discussed and I believe the consensus at the Planning 
Commission was that that could be achieved... The preference was to achieve 
that with landscaping rather than a fence. The code doesn't say one way or 
another. 

Mr. Hosfelt: And I think it was the resident at 31 like that as well, versus a fence? 

Ms. Keifer: Yes, the preference certainly appeared to be between the adjacent 
property owner and the applicant that landscaping would be the preference. 

Mr. Hosfelt: Thank you. 

Public Hearing is Open on Application CS-17-10 
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IN FAVOR 

Pastor Doctor Vincent lkwuagwu, 2319 S. DuPont Highway, Dover, DE: 

Commissioners, thank you so much for hearing Application. I'm the pastor of the 

Redeemed Christian Church of God Father's House Assembly. We're one ofthe 

800 parishes that's in the United States. The Redeemed Christian Church of God 

was originally founded in Nigeria and it has since been in the United for so long, 

like I said we are over 800 parishes. In Delaware we have parishes in 
Wilmington; we have a parish in Smyrna, another parish that is located in 

Milford, another one in Newark. We have about nine parishes that are in 
Delaware. We are first operating out of Morris Lake, at 24 Morris Lake until that 

whole area was deemed "unoccupiable" due to roofing conditions. Our aim is to 

renovate the building that is at this present site and become a sanctuary of about 

80 people. We are not a very large church. Our church is involved in a lot of 

philanthropic missions all over the world. Presently we are a member of the 

World Vision. The World Vision takes part in doing a lot of work with children, 

providing nutrition, counseling for the youth and providing a lot of aide to the 

community. While we are operating out of Lebanon Road at this Thanksgiving 

time we always providing hot dinner for members of the community. We belong 

to the Amazing Grace Food Program out of Middletown where we go and get 
food and prepare packages that we give out to all the members of the 
community. During the past we invite members of like Shepherd Home, we 

invite them to our church and they have fellowship and they eat with us and we 

buy Christmas gifts for them. We are involved in a lot of philanthropic mission; I 

know part of our job as a church is to save souls, but part of saving souls is 

helping the needy within our community. If you were reading in the Delaware 
State News this Thanksgiving, our Church, the church that planted us here, is 

called the Amazing Grace Chapel in Middletown. They had a very robust 
program where the citizens of Middletown were cited by the police and they 

redeemed their ticket with a turkey at the church. They gave out almost 400 

turkeys to members of the community during the Thanksgiving so that's the type 

of work that we want to do. We want to be able to cater to the members of the 

community so we very much ask the Commissioners to please approve our 

application so that we can be a part of the community and do our *unintelligible* 
and help the members of the community and helping the needy in our community. 

Thank you, sir. 

Mr. Hosfelt: Pastor, could you tell me a little bit about the size ofthe size of your 

congregation that will be attending church? 

Pastor Ikwuagwu: Our congregation was about 50 when we were at the Lebanon. 

Right now we are about 24 to 30 members. What happens to the churches when 

you begin to relocate from one site to another site members seem to disperse, but 

when you have a more solid location you have an opportunity to grow. This 

particular location right now is meant to only accommodate about 80 and that is 

the site where we are. Also, we have two acre lot that we a lot of areas of 
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improvement, as we go along. Right now the location we have, there ' s a building 
there that's a residential building that we will open it up to become a sanctuary. 
We will be about 80 members. 

Mr. Hosfelt: Can you tell me a little bit about your outreach to the homeless 
community? I think you mentioned that in the minutes to the Planning 
Commission. 

Pastor Ikwuagwu: Yes, we've been doing that a lot. That's a program that we 
have called manna *unintelligible* and every other weekend we prepare bags of 
food that we gather from the Amazing Grace Food Program. We pay them a 
monthly stipend and we are allowed to go there Tuesday and Friday and get food 
and then we package that food and take it over to some of the homes within the 
community and some members also come there. Recently from the World Vision 
we belong to *unintelligible* Coats factory allowed to get coats there and 
provide a coat rack for members of the community during winter. So they're 
teaming with our church to give us coats. Because they're in town this company's 
able to find an organization that takes coats from their shops and give to us so we 
can pass it on to members of the community. 

Mr. Hosfelt: Thank you, sir. Last question, I think you do bible study on 
Wednesdays and you'll have church service on Sunday morning and afternoon? 

Pastor: Ikwuagwu: Yes, sir, that's how we do. That's what we do for now. 

Mr. Hosfelt: Alright, thank you, Pastor. 

Pastor Ikwuagwu: You're welcome. 

Mr. Pepper: Thank you, welcome, just a couple of questions. Your long range 
plan for the property, do you plan on for the future building any type of school 
there other than a facility for your bible study or do you plan on any kind of 
residential unit there for someone to live in the future or multiple people to live? I 
mean, I'm asking you to look into the future and what are your future plans. 

Pastor Ikwuagwu: We do not have any plan for a residential unit at the location 
but as you know as the churches grow a lot of churches have the opportunity to 
add maybe a day care center to take care of their members. Also when the 
membership grow there will be a church to expand in the sanctuary which will go 
with the daycare center. We don't have any plan to do the residential. In our 
churches all over the United States we normally don't have a residential place for 
the pastor, so it's always for the sanctuary. Maybe a daycare center, daycare of 
the kids. 

Mr. Pepper: Thank you. 
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Pastor Ikwuagwu: Yes sir. 

IN OPPOSITION - None 

Public Hearing is Closed On Application CS-17-10 

Based on the fact there's no opposition, unanimous approval by the Planning 
Commission and Staffs recommendation I Move to approve Application 
CS-17-10, Redeemed Christian Church of God Father's House Assembly begin 
RS 1 (Single Family Residential)/Church ; Area/Location to be located on 
Highview Avenue; seconded by Mr. Pepper. 

Mr. Buckson: I'm going to have to ask a couple of questions here in regards to 
what we are approving. I guess the big one I'm concerned with, I understand the 
entrance is out front, and I'm going to ask Staff, if I understand this correctly, the 
house that exists there's a tennis court that exists there, that, according to this 
plan, that all goes? The house goes? The house is the sanctuary that they're 
talking about. 

Ms. Keifer: They're going to renovate the house and add on to it. They're not 
tearing it down. 

Mr. Buckson: The house remains and they're adding an 80 seat essentially church 
to go along with that? 

Ms. Keifer: They're adding on to the house, and within that footprint they'll 
renovate a portion of it to be a sanctuary. 

Mr. Buckson: Footprint of the land or footprint of the actual house? 

Ms. Keifer: The actual house. 

Mr. Buckson: So the actual house will be transitioned into it and not ... Because 
when I look up there and see that drawing and I think, well that's not what the 
house looks like. So I'm confused. 

Ms. Keifer: No, they're adding a 1000 square feet to it. 

Mr. Buckson: Okay, and the entrance comes out to the front so, alright I 
understand that. Finally, the only one that I guess I would have an issue, not an 
issue with but I want to have an assurance with, what role do we play in the 
buffering of the landscape? And I heard fence and I heard ... There's trees 

existing right now, is that the landscaping? 

Ms. Keifer: What's on the screen ... 
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Mr. Buckson: Urn huh. 

Ms. Keifer: .. .is it existing. 

Mr. Buckson: And that remains as the buffer? Is there an additional buffering 
that we control or not? I screwed up guys, I thought we were ... I didn't realize it 
was going to go down this quick and so I wanted to ... I'm in favor, I just want to 
make sure I know what I'm voting for real quick. The buffering I think is the real 
key, right? 

Ms. Keifer: If you look at the trees along the property line, those are proposed. 

Mr. Buckson: Urn huh. Along the property line, the ones that I'm looking at up 
there, are those proposed? But the fence was agreed upon, it was, I read the 
minutes, maybe it was agreed upon ... 

Ms. Keifer: It was agreed upon that landscaping would be used in lieu of fencing. 

Mr. Buckson: Sorry about that. I'm going to vote yes, I just want to make sure I 
know what the heck I was voting yes on all the way. Alright, so I'm good to go. 

Roll Call: 

Mr. Angel: Yes, reasons stated and no public opposition, RPC approval and Staff 
recommendation, yes. 

Mr. Buckson: Comments stated in support of the application by Commissioner 
Hosfelt my vote is yes. 

Mr. Hosfelt: Yes, based on the reasons given. 

Mr. Howell: Yes, based on reasons given. 

Mr. Pepper: Yes, based on reasons given. 

Mr. Sweeney: Yes, for all reasons stated. I know the family, the applicant I 
think they're going to be an integral part of the community. Thank you. 

Mr. Banta: Based on the recommendation of the Regional Planning Commission, 
the Staff, the conditions and the motion by Mr. Hosfelt and the conditions upon 
that, I vote yes. 

Roll Call reveals seven (7) yeas. Application CS-1 7-10 has been approved. 

PUBLIC HEARINGS CLOSED 
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RECESS TO COMMITTEE MEETING- 7:51 

RECONVENE BUSINESS MEETING -7:57 

Old Business - None 

New Business 

Mr. Hosfelt: 
1. Potential Action Item from Committee Meeting: Community Event 

Promotional Grant Application Review and consideration: The Clayton 
Fire Company 

Mr. Hosfelt: I have a Motion to award Community Event Promotional Grant in 
the amount of $750.00 to the Clayton Fire Company in accordance with their 
Grant Application dated October 25, 2017 and correspondence date November 14, 

2014 for the purpose of assisting with the costs of purchasing Flash Drive Units to 
be distributed to the public as part of the Annual Breakfast with Santa Event that 
is scheduled for Sunday, December 3, 2017; seconded by Mr. Pepper; carried by 
roll call vote seven (7) yeas. 

Other Business 

Motion by Mr. Pepper to go into Executive Session immediately following the 
Committee Meetings of December 5, 2017 for preliminary discussion on site 
acquisition for a publicly funded capital improvement; legal strategy session 
regarding collective bargaining or pending or potential litigation; and personnel 
matters pursuant to 29 Del. C. 10004 (b) (2), (4), and (9); seconded by 
Mr. Sweeney; carried by roll call vote seven (7) yeas. 

Information Items 

Mr. Petit de Mange: I just wanted to remind Commissioners Pepper, Angel and 
Hosfelt particularly that tomorrow evening there is a City-County liaison meeting 
with the City of Dover at 6:00p.m. at Frazier's. So, everyone is aware ofthat. 

Mr. Pepper: I will be there early and I will be leaving early. Three of my 
grandchildren are performing at Modem Maturity Center tomorrow night in the 
annual Christmas Show. So I will make an appearance at both. 

Mr. Angel: Mr. Petit de Mange, as president of Modem Maturity I have to be 
there tomorrow night. I already signed up for that; I was reminded of that last 
night. I had actually forgot about that. 

Mr. Petit de Mange: Maybe after the meeting we' ll talk about whether or not we 
should ask for a reschedule with the City. We'll talk about that after the meeting. 
Second item, I just want to remind the Commissioners Thursday evening this 
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week is the annual Holiday Celebration in Downtown Dover. It begins at 5:30. 
Levy Court Commissioners who can attend are all certainly encouraged to be 
there and we will be leading a Christmas carol that evening, Frosty the Snowman. 
So please plan to be with us. Thank you. 

Public Comments -None 

Commissioner Comments - None 

Motion to Adjourn was made by Mr. Pepper; seconded by Mr. Howell; carried 
by roll call vote seven (7) yeas. 8:12p.m. 

1!t:t:;tt~~4~ 
Kent County Clerk of the Peace 


